
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG  

 
PLANNING PANEL 

AGENDA 
 

Venue: This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore 
will not take place in a physical location  

Date:   Wednesday, 14th April, 2021 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby       Tel: 07385 362806 

 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2021  1 - 4 

4. Schedule of Applications   

a) Application 4/21/2001/0O1 - Harras Dyke Farm, Harras 
Dyke, Whitehaven 

5 - 22  

 Outline application for residential development of a single 
dwelling including details of access. 
 

 

5. Schedule of Delegated Decisions  23 - 32 

6. Development Management Performance Monitoring  33 - 34 

7. Planning Appeal Decision  35 - 44 

8. Review of Constitution - Planning Panel matters  To Follow 

9. Date and Time of Next Meeting:   

 The next meeting of the Planning Panel will be held on 
Wednesday 21 April 2021 at 10:00am. 
This will be a virtual meeting. 
 

 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Membership: Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Doug Wilson (Deputy Chair), 
Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, Tom Higgins, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, 
Michael McVeigh, Graham Minshaw, Brian O'Kane and Russell Studholme 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 07385 362806 
   E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING PANEL 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 17 MARCH 2021 
 

Present: Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, 
Tom Higgins, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, Michael McVeigh, 
Graham Minshaw, Russell Studholme and Doug Wilson. 
 
Officers: Nick Hayhurst (Planning and Place Manager), Christopher Harrison 
(Principal Planning Officer), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Clive Willoughby 
(Democratic Services Officer) and Rose Blaney (Democratic Services Officer). 
 
 

PP 20/136 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Brian O’Kane. 
 

PP 20/137 Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:  
 

Councillor Joan Hully declared a non-pecuniary interest in Application 4a 
(4/20/2043/0O1 – Land at Trumpet Road, Cleator Moor) due to being the Chair 
of Cleator Moor Town Council, a Director of Regen NE Copeland and knowing 
the Applicants Agent and some of the Objectors.  

Councillor Russell Studholme declared a non-pecuniary interest in Application 4a 
(4/20/2043/0O1 – Land at Trumpet Road, Cleator Moor) due to knowing the 
objector, Mr McClelland, through work. 

 
PP 20/138 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2021  

 
Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meeting held on  
3 March 2021.  

A vote was then taken by way of a roll call.  

On a vote of 7 For, 0 Against and 3 Abstentions, it was therefore:-  

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meetings held on 3 March 2021 be signed 
by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
PP 20/139 Schedule of Applications  

 

The planning applications were then taken in the following order.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
PP 20/140 Application 4/20/2043/0O1 - Land at Trumpet Road, Cleator Moor  

 

Prior to considering this application, the Solicitor outlined the process for 
applications being reconsidered by the Panel after a previous ‘Minded To’ 
decision against the Officer’s recommendation.  

Four Councillors present (Councillors Michael McVeigh, Tom Higgins,  
Graham Minshaw and Russell Studholme) had not taken part in the meeting on 
17 February 2021 when this application was previously considered.  

Each of these Councillors had been supplied with a recording of that meeting.  

In order to participate and vote they were asked to confirm they had watched 
the recording.  

Councillors Michael McVeigh, Graham Minshaw and Russell Studholme made 
that confirmation.  

Councillor Tom Higgins had not watched the recording and was therefore unable 
to participate in the reconsideration of this application. He left the meeting at 
this point.  

The Outline Application for residential development for 11 dwellings including 
access position (resubmission), was presented by the Principal Planning Officer.  

During discussion of this item, representations in objection were received from 
Mrs P Robinson, Mr A McClelland, Mrs J McClelland,  
Mr N Johnston, Mr A Gidney and Mr H Edgar.  

The Applicant’s Agent, Mr M Sandelands, then exercised his right to respond.  

The Principal Planning Officer summed up and made a recommendation, after 
which all Members were invited to ask questions or make comment.  

A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call.  

The result of the vote was 5 For, 3 Against and 1 Abstention.  

RESOLVED – that the application be Approved in Outline.  

 
PP 20/141 Schedule of Delegated Decisions  

 

The Panel was notified of a number of delegated decisions made during the 
period 20 February 2021 to 5 March 2021.  

RESOLVED – that the Schedule of Delegated Decisions from  
20 February 2021 to 5 March 2021 be noted.  
 

Page 2



PP 20/142 Date and Time of Next Meeting:  
 

The next meeting of the Planning Panel will be held on Wednesday 14 April 2021 
at 2:00pm. This will be a virtual meeting.  

 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 3.15 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                    

        

                                                                               

To: PLANNING PANEL 

 

Date of Meeting: 14/04/2021 

Development Control Section 

  

 

 

Application Number:   4/21/2001/0O1 

Application Type:   Outline : CBC 

Applicant:     Vince Little & Advissor Limited 

Application Address:  HARRAS DYKE FARM, HARRAS DYKE, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL 

DEVELOPMENT OF A SINGLE DWELLING INCLUDING 

DETAILS OF ACCESS 

Parish:    Whitehaven 

Recommendation Summary:   Approve in Outline (commence within 3 years) 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4a



 

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel 

This application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the 

proposal is a departure from the adopted Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.  

 

Site and Location 

The application site relates to a small area of agricultural land immediately to the south of 

Harras Dyke Farm which is located on the northern edge of Whitehaven. The site covers an 

area of approximately 0.17ha and is relatively flat.  

Harras Dyke Farm comprises a small collection of buildings that are surrounded by 

agricultural land. The farm is served by a private road leading from Harras Road to the 

South.   

 

Crown Copyright.  Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 

prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005). 

Page 6



The site is located adjacent to but outside the settlement boundary for Whitehaven, which 

runs along the rear of the properties that front onto Harras Road approximately 150m to 

the South. 

 

Proposal  

This outline application seeks to establish the principle of developing the site for residential 

purposes for a single dwelling.  The application includes full details of the proposed access 

which is to be taken from the private track that links Harras Dyke Farm to Harras Road.  All 

other matters relating to layout, scale, appearance, and landscaping are reserved for future 

consideration.  

Whilst all matters are reserved for subsequent approval, an indicative layout plan has been 

submitted with this application to show how the site could accommodate a 3 bedroomed 

bungalow with a detached garage and associated parking and amenity/garden space.   

The planning application is accompanied by the following documentation:  

- Site Location Plan;  

- An Indicative Site Layout Plan;  

- An Indicative Floor Plan; 

- A Planning Statement; 

- A Coal Mining Risk Assessment Report. 

- A Geo-environmental Appraisal 

 

Relevant Planning Application History  

There have been no previous applications on the site.  

Outline planning permission was granted for the residential development of the land 

immediately to the south of the application site fronting onto Harras Road in 2017. 

 

Consultation Responses  

Whitehaven Town Council  

Raised concerns relating to flooding and drainage issues on the site. 

 

Cumbria Highways  

No objections subject to conditions relating to the following: 

 The securing of adequate visibility splays; 

 Suitable driveway drainage to prevent surface water discharging off the site onto the 

lane; 

 Any gates should only open inwards only away from the lane. 

Page 7



 

Local Lead Flood Authority  

No objections but noted that infiltration for surface water is unlikely to be viable for this 

site.  Commented that there are known surface water issues affecting the site and adjacent 

land which leads to surface water discharging out onto the public highway and suggested 

that further detailed designs with respect to drainage should be sought in order to consider 

this fully. 

 

Flood and Coastal Drainage Engineer  

The application states that the surface water is to be disposed of by means of a soakaway.  

The attached Geoenvironmental Report, which appears to cover the adjacent site and not 

this, states that soakaway drainage is considered unlikely to be viable at this site.  Therefore, 

what is actually to be considered / proposed for surface water drainage?  It is proposed that 

the foul drainage is to connect to the mains sewer.  Currently the nearest main sewer is 

approximately 150m away.  With the proposed adjacent development having received 

planning permission, is it proposed to connect the foul drainage into this site?  Currently it 

isn’t clear where the connection is to be made. 

 

The Agent responded to these comments as follows: 

“the site is adjoining the large housing site which, while currently still under this applicants 

ownership, is now agreed to be progressed by a housebuilder. Therefore as part of the 

proposed agreement, they would want to retain a right to connect into the foul and surface 

water drainage on the main site from this plot, which should be fine. Obviously, that is all 

still to be confirmed for certain, so I cannot specify that, but it is the most logical and cost 

effective solution for the applicants “ 

 

In response to these comments the Officer concluded the following: 

 Flood mapping shows that the site is in Flood Zone 1. 

 Flood mapping shows that the site is at a very low risk of surface water flooding. 

 However, experience would suggest that there is surface water issues with the land 
in the area being quite wet and subject to surface water flows. 

 Suitable design can minimise the risk to the proposed property from surface water 
flooding, which is not a concern at the outline stage. (I’m specifically thinking 
finished floor levels and landscaping.) 

 Subject to being able to dispose of surface water and foul sewage satisfactorily, I 
would have no objection to the proposed development. 

United Utilities  

Page 8



Raised no objections, subject to a condition relating to the submission of full drainage 

details and a condition to ensure that foul and surface water are drained on separate 

systems. 

 

The Coal Authority  

Initially raised substantive concern and objected to the application due to the lack of 

submitted coal information.  Further to the provision of a full coal report for the site, the 

Coal Authority withdrew their objection and recommended that the development 

incorporates gas protection measures. 

 

Countryside Access Officer  

Public Footpath 431011 follows an alignment to the west side of the proposed 

development and must not be altered or obstructed before or after the development has 

been completed. 

 

If the footpath is to be temporarily obstructed then a formal temporary closure will be 

required there is a 12 week lead in time for this process, for further information please 

contact Sandra.smith@cumbria.gov.uk. 

 

Public Representation 

This application was advertised by way of site notice, press notice and neighbour 

notification letters issued to 8 residential properties.  

Two letters were received with queries relating to details of the application including the 

width of the access road and details of the drainage. 

 

Planning Policy  

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Development Plan  

Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)  

Core Strategy  

Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles 

Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer 

Page 9

mailto:Sandra.smith@cumbria.gov.uk


Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth  

Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability  

Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport 

Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management  

Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes 

Development Management Policies (DMP)  

Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place  

Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards 

Policy DM12 – Standards of New Residential Developments 

Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments 

Policy DM24 – Development Proposal and Flood Risk 

Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species 

Policy DM26 – Landscaping 

 

Other Material Planning Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)  

National Design Guide (NDG). 

Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)  

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2019 (SHMA) 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR). 

Copeland Borough Council Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023 (CBCHS) 

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLGC) 

 

Emerging Copeland Local Plan:  

The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been subject to a Preferred 

Options Consultation which ended on 30th November 2020. The Preferred Options 

Consultation builds upon the completed Issues and Options Consultation which finished in 

January 2020. Given the stage of preparation, the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 

has only limited weight in decision making, but provides an indication of the direction of 

travel of the emerging planning policies, which themselves have been developed in 

accordance with the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 10



 

Assessment  

The primary issues relevant to the determination of this application are:  

- The principle of the development;  

- Housing need; 

- Settlement character, landscape and visual impact; 

- Design and impact on residential amenity;  

- Flood risk and the achievement of satisfactory drainage;  

- The impact of the development on highway safety; 

- Coal mining risk. 

 

Principle of Development  

The principle of new housing is supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic 

policies ST1 and ST2 along with policies SS1, SS2 and SS3. These policies seek to promote 

sustainable development to meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs housing 

market, as well as having consideration for the requirements of smaller settlements within 

the Borough, which respect their scale and function.   

Whitehaven is classified as Copeland’s Principal Town under Policy ST2 of the Copeland 

Local Plan. Policy ST2 seeks to direct the majority of the Borough’s new development to 

Whitehaven due to the range of facilities and services it has to offer. In respect of housing 

development, the following is identified as appropriate: allocations in the form of estate-

scale development where appropriate and continuing initiatives for large scale housing 

renewal (This could involve extensions to the town’s settlement boundary); and Infill and 

windfall housing. Larger sites will require a proportion of affordable housing. 

The application lies outside of the designated settlement boundary for Whitehaven, and as 

such, the proposal is in conflict with Policy ST2.  Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan states 

that outside of the defined settlement boundaries, development is restricted to that which 

has a proven requirement for such a location, including housing that meets proven specific 

and local needs including provision for agricultural workers, replacement dwellings, 

replacement of residential caravans, affordable housing and the conversion of rural 

buildings to residential use. 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development to the provision of housing where there are no relevant 

development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the 

application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the Local Planning Authority cannot 

demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as 

set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of 

housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the 

previous three years.  

In November 2020, Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply 

Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the 

Page 11



emerging housing requirement calculated in the updated Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA) and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology 

figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent Housing Delivery Test.  

Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the Local Plan must still be considered out of 

date and only some weight can be given to their content as far as they are consistent with 

the provisions of the NPPF.  

Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in 

November 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the policies of the adopted Local Plan. 

The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base. The SHMA calculates a housing 

need in Copeland over the plan period 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum. The ECLP 

confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will be 

required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.  

The ECLP continues to identify Whitehaven as Copeland’s Principal Town reflective of the 

number and type of services it contains and identifies a settlement boundary around the 

town. The ECLP continues to identify the Application Site as outside but very close to the 

revised settlement boundary for Whitehaven. Whilst the proposed development is in 

conflict with the emerging policies and provisions of the ECLP, as the document is at an early 

stage of preparation and there are outstanding objections to the relevant policies applicable 

to this development, the identified conflict can be given little weight at present. 

In the context of the provisions of Paragraph 11, the defined development boundary for 

Whitehaven must be considered out of date. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that 

planning permission should be granted unless: 

i. The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 

The site lies on the northern edge of the built up area of Whitehaven, and is considered to 

be within walking distance from the wide range local services within the town. 

In applying the provisions of paragraph 11:  

- The site would assist in boosting housing supply to meet the identified need for 

housing in Whitehaven and the wider Borough;  

- The proposed development comprising the erection of a single dwelling is 

appropriate in size to the designation of Whitehaven as Copeland’s Principal Town in 

accordance with the spatial objectives of Policy ST2;  

- The site is close to the existing settlement boundary and is located adjacent to the 

existing built form on the northern edge of Whitehaven; 

- The site is located adjacent to a site with an existing planning permission for up to 

100 dwellings;  

Page 12



- The Site is located in close and convenient proximity to the services and employment 

opportunities located within Whitehaven. The proposed development will support 

existing services; 

- Sustainable travel options exist within the vicinity, including train, cycle routes and 

bus services, as per the provisions of Policy DM22 of the Local Plan.  

 

Housing Need 

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan requires housing development to demonstrate how proposals 

will deliver an appropriate mix of housing as set out in the SHMA. 

The site falls within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) of Copeland Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). 

The SMHA suggest a particular focus on the delivery of three bedroom houses, semi-

detached and detached houses with four or more bedrooms and bungalows and is 

identified as having a high need for new affordable housing.  

The supporting statement submitted with the application sets out that the proposed 

development would provide a new dwelling for the applicant with accommodation likely to 

be on a single level as their existing property (Harras Dyke Farm) is a large two storey 

dwelling.  

The proposed development has the potential to assist in providing a greater balance of 

market housing stock within this part of Whitehaven in accordance with Policy SS3 of the CS. 

No affordable housing is proposed in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 63 of the 

NPPF which sets out that the provision for affordable housing should not be sought for 

residential developments that are less than 10 units.   

 

Settlement Character and Landscape and Visual Impact 

Policy ENV5 states that the Borough’s landscapes will be protected and enhanced by: 

protecting all landscapes from inappropriate change by ensuring that the development does 

not threaten or detract from the distinctive characteristics of that particular area; that 

where the benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm, ensuring that the 

impact of the development on the landscape is minimised through adequate mitigation, 

preferably on-site; and, supporting proposals which enhance the value of the Borough’s 

landscapes.  

Policy DM10 seeks that development responds positively to the character of the site and the 

immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness including: an appropriate 

size and arrangement of development plots; the appropriate provision, orientation, 

proportion, scale and massing of buildings; and, careful attention to the design of spaces 

between buildings. 

The application site comprises of undeveloped land that lies adjacent to a number of 

existing dwellings. The site is located to the north of a large site which benefits from an 

outline planning permission for up to 100 dwellings (application reference 4/16/2415/0O1 

Page 13



relates). In this context it is unlikely to result in any significant harm to this edge of the 

settlement.  

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) identifies the site as being 

within Sub Type 5 ‘Whitehaven Hillsides’. The Key Characteristics of the land comprise open 

hillsides and skyline setting to the east of Whitehaven. It is heavily influenced by the nearby 

settlement, but has a sense of exposure and long views seaward and towards open 

moorland. The urban edge of defined by isolated fringe farmsteads and isolated housing 

developments. 

The Guidelines for development include: Preserve the open countryside buffer between the 

urban edge of Whitehaven and the sensitive open moorlands to the east, defining the urban 

edge of Whitehaven, conserving and maintaining traditional farm buildings within their own 

setting, and enhancing and strengthening green infrastructure to provide a link between the 

urban areas and the wider open countryside.  

 Whilst the development would be considered a small edge of settlement extension the 

proposed site does not extend into the open countryside beyond the existing collection of 

dwellings that extend northwards along the dwelling located further north and will 

effectively infill the gap between the approved dwellings on the land to the south and the 

existing dwellings at Harras Dyke.  In this context the site is clearly not isolated and would 

be consistent with the prevailing character and form on this urban edge. The development 

would be viewed in context with these existing properties. Additional landscaping and the 

retention of the boundary wall, which would be detailed within subsequent reserved 

matters applications, will also help to soften the potential landscape and visual impacts of 

the development. 

Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for 

subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application 

demonstrates that the site could be developed in a manner that respects the form, density 

and character of the existing developments within the locality. The proposal is therefore 

considered to comply with policies ST1 and ENV5 of the Copeland Local Plan and provision 

of the NPPF. 

Design and Impact on Residential Amenity 

Within the Copeland Local Plan, Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and 

section 12 of the NPPF seek to secure high standards of design for new residential 

properties. These policies seek to create and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity, 

and set out detailed requirements with regard to standard of residential amenity, including 

the provision of parking spaces, separation distances and open space. 

The application site lies adjacent to residential properties to the north of the site, currently 

with open countryside to the south. The application includes indicative details of the 

proposed layout only with details of the siting, scale and appearance of the dwelling 

reserved for subsequent approval at the Reserved Matters stage. As submitted the 

proposed plot layout does reasonably allow for adequate separation distances to be 

achieved between the proposed and existing dwellings as required by Policy DM12 of the 

Page 14



Local Plan. The indicative layout also shows that the proposed dwelling will be set back 

within the plot, away from the road, to allow for parking and turning in front of the 

property.  The use of suitable boundary treatments would also help to minimise the 

potential impacts on the adjacent properties. Details of the boundary treatment would be 

submitted at the reserved matters planning stage. 

Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for 

subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application 

demonstrates that a development layout is deliverable that meets the required separation 

distances with the immediate neighbouring properties. It is reasonable to conclude at this 

stage that the site could be developed to accommodate a single dwelling without resulting 

in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring residential dwellings through loss of 

light, overshadowing, overbearingness and overlooking. The requirements of Policy DM12 of 

the Local Plan are considered to be achievable. 

Drainage and Flood Risk  

Policy ST1B(ii) of the Local Plan and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development 

on sites that are at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, 

ensure that the risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and 

DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against 

flood risk.  

Although the application site is located within Flood Zone 1, the Council’s Flood and Coastal 

Defence Engineer, Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities have been consulted upon 

this application.  Concerns were also raised from both a local resident and the Whitehaven 

Town Council with the possibility of flooding on the site due to historic surface water issues 

in the area. Local flooding issues have been confirmed by the Local Lead Flood Authority. 

As the application is in outline form only, the agent for this application has indicated that 

the site will be drained to the mains connections on the adjacent site which is under the 

same ownership. No objections have been received from any Statutory Consultees on this 

matter however it has been indicated that the site should be drained on a separate system 

with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most 

sustainable way. In line with these comments relevant conditions are proposed to ensure an 

adequate drainage system can be secured to serve the site and to ensure a surface water 

drainage scheme is achievable based on the hierarchy of drainage options set out in the 

NPPF. These details should be secured prior to commencement of works on the site in order 

to ensure that the concerns of local residents and the Town Council are fully satisfied.  

The imposition of these conditions will secure proper drainage within the site and will 

manage the risk of flooding and pollution, ensuring that the development complies with 

Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 and the provisions of 

the NPPF. 

Access, Parking and Highway Safety 

Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the 

impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of 

Page 15



the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet 

adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough. 

The application shows that access will be achieved from the adjoining private road to the 

west of the site which leads from Harras Road. The indicative layout shows that the dwelling 

will benefit from ample space at the front for parking and turning facilities on site. Whilst 

this plan is for illustration purposes only the site is of sufficient size to allow for satisfactory 

access, parking and turning to be achieved. 

No objections were raised from the Highway Authority and it is considered that the 

provision of a single dwelling on the site will not increase the use of the main access to any 

significant level.  The Highways Authority did raise concern with the lack of passing places 

on the lane and stated that further consideration should be taken in the future, should more 

development be proposed that utilises this lane.  The Highways Authority have requested 

that conditions should be added to any permission to ensure that adequate visibility splays 

can be secured, that suitable drainage is put in place to prevent surface water discharging 

out onto the lane and that any gates erected open inwards away from the lane only. 

Overall, it is considered that the submitted details demonstrate that the site can be 

developed in a way that complies with Policies T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan and 

will provide an accessible development with an acceptable parking provision. 

Coal Mining Risk 

The site lies within a coal mining referral area with the risk of shallow mining works in the 

vicinity.  The submitted coal report shows that there are recorded underground mine 

workings beneath the property at a depth of 166m and 183m.  These are considered to be 

too deep to significantly impact surface ground stability within the development area. 

The report also identifies the risk of mine gas and states that there is a moderate risk.  It is 

considered that further testing would be required in order to establish the level of risk.  Any 

potential ground gas could be mitigated with routinely adopted measures and it is 

considered that this should not preclude approval of the development. 

The Coal Authority raised no objections to the proposal, but suggested that the possibility of 

ground gas should be investigated prior to the development taking place.  A planning 

condition is proposed to ensure that these investigations are undertaken prior to the 

commencement of any development on the site. 

Overall, it is considered that, subject to further investigations, the site can comply with 

Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan in relation to ground stability and site suitability. 

Planning Balance 

The application site is located outside of the settlement boundary for Whitehaven as 

defined in Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

For the reasons outlined, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF 

is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important for 

Page 16



determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that planning 

permission be granted unless: 

- the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  

 

The proposed development is in clear conflict with the provisions of Policy ST2 of the Local 

Plan with regard to the location outside the settlement boundary for Whitehaven; however, 

given the importance of this policy to the determination of the application and its level of 

conformity with the NPPF, only limited weight can be given to this policy in decision taking. 

 

As the ECLP is at an early stage of preparation and there are outstanding objections to the 

relevant policies applicable to this development, this can be given little weight at present. 

The development will assist in boosting housing supply within Whitehaven, is of an 

appropriate scale for the Principal Town, will support the retention of existing services 

locally, and benefits from sustainable travel options in accordance with the spatial 

objectives of the Local Plan. The proposal is unlikely to have a negative impact on the 

surrounding area, being small scale and sited to respect the character and built form of this 

edge of the settlement. The development is considered to be an infill to the existing 

settlement pattern and would be viewed in context with the existing dwellings at Harras 

Dyke. Additional landscaping could also be secured to soften the southern edge of the 

application site.  

Conclusion 

On balance, whilst some conflicts are identified these are minor and it is considered that 

these are collectively not sufficiently harmful to significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the identified benefits of the development, which would include: the provision of housing in 

a sustainable location, and supporting local services when assessed against the policies in 

the NPPF taken as a whole.  

 

Recommendation:- 

Approve in Outline (Commence within 3 years) 

 

Conditions   

1. The layout, scale, appearance and landscaping must be as may be approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason 

Page 17



 
To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 
by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 

2. Detailed plans and drawings with respect to the matters reserved for subsequent 
approval must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within three years of the 
date of this permission and the development hereby permitted must be commenced 
not later than the later of the following dates:- 

 
a) The expiration of THREE years from the date of this permission 

 
Or 

 
b) The expiration of TWO years from the final approval of the reserved matters 

or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
such matter to be approved. 

 
Reason 

 
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to 
comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 

3.  Permission shall relate to the following plans and documents as received on the 
respective dates and development shall be carried out in accordance with them: - 
 
Location Plan, scale 1:1250, drawing number 2025-EX100 A, received 5th January 

 2021; 
Planning Statement, written by SRE Associates, received 5th January 2021; 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA), written by Geoinvestigate Limited, received 
12th February 2021. 

 
Reason 

 
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 

Pre-commencement conditions 
 
4. Before development commences full details of the surface water drainage scheme, 

including attenuation measures, must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme must become operational 
before the development is brought into use and shall be so maintained thereafter. 

 

Page 18



Reason 
 

To ensure a satisfactory scheme of surface water disposal from the site and in 
accordance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan. 
 
 

5. Prior to the commencement of the development approved by this planning 
permission, gas monitoring must be undertaken in accordance with the Coal Mining 
Risk Assessment, written by Geoinvestigate Limited, submitted on 12th February 
2021, and the results and consequential proposed gas protection measures 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
monitoring must include the siting of gas wells in the development area on 6 
occasions over a minimum of a 6 week period. 

 
Reason 

 
To ensure the protection of the development from ground gas in accordance with 
policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.  
 
 

6. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, full details of the 
proposed visibility splays at the entrance of the site must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development must be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details and retained as such at all times 
thereafter. 

 
Reason 

 
To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway safety and 
in accordance with Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan. 
 
 

Other conditions 
 
7. Foul and surface water drainage must be drained on separate systems.   
 

Reason 
 

To ensure the provision of a satisfactory drainage scheme in accordance with Policies 
ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan. 
 
 

8. Any gates adjoining the highway must be hung to open inwards and retained as such 
at all times thereafter. 

 
Reason 

 

Page 19



To ensure that the highway is not obstructed in accordance with Policy DM22 of the 
Copeland Local Plan. 
 
 

Informatives 
 
1) A PROW (public footpath/bridleway/byway) number 431011 lies adjacent to the site, the 
Applicant must ensure that no obstruction to the footpath occurs during or after the 
completion of the site works. 
 
2) The proposed development lies within an area that has been defined by the Coal 
Authority as containing potential hazards arising from former coal mining activity.  These 
hazards can include: mine entries (shafts and adits); shallow coal workings; geological 
features (fissures and break lines); mine gas and previous surface mining sites.  Although 
such hazards are seldom readily visible, they can often be present and problems can occur 
in the future, particularly as a result of development taking place.   
 
It is recommended that information outlining how the former mining activities affect the 
proposed development, along with any mitigation measures required (for example the need 
for gas protection measures within the foundations), be submitted alongside any 
subsequent application for Building Regulations approval (if relevant).   Any form of 
development over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry can be dangerous and 
raises significant safety and engineering risks and exposes all parties to potential financial 
liabilities.  As a general precautionary principle, the Coal Authority considers that the 
building over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry should wherever possible be 
avoided.  In exceptional circumstance where this is unavoidable, expert advice must be 
sought to ensure that a suitable engineering design is developed and agreed with regulatory 
bodies which takes into account of all the relevant safety and environmental risk factors, 
including gas and mine-water.  Your attention is drawn to the Coal Authority Policy in 
relation to new development and mine entries available at:  
<https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-influencing-
distance-of-mine-entries>  
 
Any intrusive activities which disturb or enter any coal seams, coal mine workings or coal 
mine entries (shafts and adits) requires a Coal Authority Permit.  Such activities could 
include site investigation boreholes, digging of foundations, piling activities, other ground 
works and any subsequent treatment of coal mine workings and coal mine entries for 
ground stability purposes.  Failure to obtain a Coal Authority Permit for such activities is 
trespass, with the potential for court action.   
 
Property specific summary information on past, current and future coal mining activity can 
be obtained from: www.groundstability.com <http://www.groundstability.com> or a similar 
service provider. 
 
If any of the coal mining features are unexpectedly encountered during development, this 
should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848.  Further 
information is available on the Coal Authority website at: 

Page 20



www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority 
<http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority>  
 
 
Statement 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning 

policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently 

determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Panel 140421

DELEGATED DECISIONS

Lead Officer: Nick Hayhurst - Planning and Place Manager

To inform Members of the Delegated Decisions made in the period 
6 March 2021 to 1 April 2021.

Recommendation: That the List of Delegated Decisions be noted.

Resource Implications: Nil

1. The Planning Development Manager has delegated authority to 
determine Planning Applications as stated in Chapter 10 of the Council's 
Constitution.

2. It is a requirement that the Planning Development Manager report 
details of all applications determined under delegated powers to the 
Planning Panel.

3. Attached is a list of Delegated Decisions made in the period
6 March 2021 to 1 April 2021.

Contact Officer: Nick Hayhurst - Planning and Place Manager

Appendix: List of Delegated Decisions

Background Papers:

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



Application Num 4/20/2134/0F1
Applicant Distington Big Local, Distington Community Centre, Church Road, 

Distington, WORKINGTON, Cumbria CA14 5TE, FAO Ms Ingrid 
Morris,

Location BRITISH LEGION LAND, REAR OF CHURCH ROAD/MAIN STREET, 
DISTINGTON

Proposal ERECTION OF APARTMENT BLOCK CONSISTING OF 45 
RESIDENTIAL UNITS AND 9 BUNGALOWS WITH ASSOCIATED 
ACCESS, PARKING AND LANDSCAPING AND INSTALLATION OF 
NEW SUB STATION

Decision Withdrawn
Decision Date 19 March 2021
Parish Distington

Application Num 4/20/2517/0F1
Applicant 2 by 2 Developments Ltd, Greengate Business Centre, 2 

Greengate Street, OLDHAM OL4 1FN, FAO Mr Robin Dunn,
Location 51 DUKE STREET, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal CONVERSION OF FORMER ELECTRICAL WHOLESALERS & 

OFFICES TO FORM 6 PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL ACCOMMODATION 
UNITS (USE CLASS A3), 6 SHORT LET HOTEL/SERVICED 
APARTMENTS (USE CLASS Cl) INCLUDING INTERNAL 
ALTERATIONS; REPLACEMENT WINDOWS; REINSTATEMENT OF 
WINDOW & DOOR OPENINGS IN REAR COURTYARD ELEVATION; 
REPAIR/REPLACEMENT OF ROOF; INSTALLATION OF CYCLE 
STAND

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 23 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/20/2371/0F1
Applicant Mr S Mawson, Applehead Farm, The Hill, MILLOM, Cumbria 

LA18 5JR,
Location APPLEHEAD FARM, THE HILL, MILLOM
Proposal DEMOLITION OF EXISTING THREE BEDROOMED FARMHOUSE, 

ATTACHED TWO BEDROOMED COTTAGE AND OUTBUILDINGS; 
CONSTRUCTION OF A REPLACEMENT FOUR BEDROOMED 2 
STOREY HOUSE & INSTALLATION OF A NEW PACKAGE SEWAGE 
TREATMENT PLANT

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 8 March 2021
Parish Millom Without

Application Num 4/20/2425/0F1
Applicant C G P Ltd, Mainsgate Road, MILLOM, Cumbria LA18 4JZ, FAO Mr 

Jonathan Blackhurst,
Location C G P LTD, MAINSGATE ROAD, MILLOM
Proposal ERECTION OF THREE STOREY EXTENSION TO SOUTH SIDE OF 

THE IVORY BUILDING FOR OFFICE SPACE, NEW ENTRANCE AND 
LOBBY AREA AND NEW STAFF CAFETERIA

Decision Withdrawn

Page 24



Decision Date 9 March 2021
Parish Millom

Application Num 4/20/2446/DOC
Applicant John Swift Homes Ltd, 11 Fern Bank, COCKERMOUTH, Cumbria 

CA13 ODF, FAO Mr John Swift,
Location THE MOUNT, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 6 (WIND TURBINE NOISE

ASSESSMENT REPORT) OF PLANNING APPROVAL 4/20/2179/0F1

Decision Approve
Decision Date 8 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/20/2490/DOC
Applicant NDA Properties Ltd, c/o Agent,
Location SEASCALE HALL FARM, SEASCALE
Proposal DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12 & 13 OF 

PLANNING APPROVAL 4/18/2207/0L1
Decision Approve
Decision Date 8 March 2021
Parish Seascale

Application Num 4/21/2019/0F1
Applicant R & J Brown, Wilson Park Farm, Pica, WORKINGTON, Cumbria 

CA14 4QF, FAO Mr Stuart Brown,
Location WILSON PARK FARM, PICA
Proposal ROOFING OF A MANURE STORAGE AREA
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 11 March 2021
Parish Distington

Application Num 4/20/2501/0R1
Applicant Mr Alan Robin, 5 Horsfield Close, Hensingham, WHITEHAVEN, 

Cumbria CA28 8UA,
Location PLOT 1, LAND AT GILGARRAN PARK, GILGARRAN
Proposal RESERVED MATTERS FOR A THREE BEDROOMED DWELLING & 

DETACHED GARAGE FOLLOWING APPROVED OUTLINE PLANNING 
APPLICATION 4/18/2177/001

Decision Approve Reserved Matters
Decision Date 19 March 2021
Parish Distington

Application Num 4/20/2516/0F1
Applicant Mr Michael Scholfield, Arenisca, Fleatham Farm, ST BEES, 

Cumbria CA27 0BY,
Location PLOT 1, FLEATHAM FARM, HIGH HOUSE ROAD, ST BEES
Proposal THREE BEDROOMED DWELLING
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 11 March 2021
Parish St. Bees

Page 25



Application Num 4/21/2008/0F1
Applicant Mr & Mrs Watson, Rowan Garth, Sandwith, ,
Location ROWAN GARTH, SANDWITH
Proposal PROPOSED AGRICULTURAL WORKERS DWELLING
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 8 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2016/0A1
Applicant Tesco, Kestrel Way, Welwyn Garden City, United Kingdom, AL7 

1GB, FAO Mr Andy Horwood,
Location TESCO SUPERMARKET, BRANSTY ROW, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal ADVERT CONSENT TO INSTALL 1 X LCD MEDIA SCREEN & 3 X 

FLAG POLE SIGNS
Decision Approve Advertisement Consent
Decision Date 8 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2012/0B1
Applicant RGG Developments Ltd, Ciarrack House, Moor Row, CA24 3LT, 

FAO Mr Robert Greggain,
Location CLARACK DRIVE, MOOR ROW
Proposal VARIATION OF CONDITION 3 OF PLANNING APPROVAL 

4/16/2206/001 (TO MOVE BOUNDARY BETWEEN PLOTS 2 & 3)
Decision Approve amendment of condition
Decision Date 15 March 2021
Parish Egremont

Application Num 4/21/2024/0F1
Applicant Whitehaven RLFC, Reacreation Ground, Coach Road, Whitehaven, 

CA28 9DD,
Location WHITEHAVEN RUGBY LEAGUE CLUB, RECREATION GROUND, 

COACH ROAD, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal PROPOSED EXTENSION TO EXISTING FUNCTION ROOM TO 

PROVIDE NEW TOILETS, KITCHEN AND COVERED LINK TO 
EXISTING FUNCTION ROOM

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 16 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2014/0F1
Applicant Kevin and Carolyn Newland, 43 Fairladies, St Bees, CA27 OAR,
Location 43 FAIRLADIES, ST BEES
Proposal PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY KITCHEN EXTENSION TO THE REAR 

OF THE PROPERTY
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 11 March 2021
Parish St. Bees

Application Num 4/21/2017/0F1
Applicant Mr Andrew Clark, Buckman Hall Farm, Thwaites, Millom, LA18 

5HY,

Page 26



Location BUCKMAN HALL FARM, BUCKMAN BROW, THWAITES, MILLOM
Proposal ERECT BUILDING (TO STORE, SERVICE & MAINTAIN FARM 

VEHICLES & MACHINERY) AND EXTENSION TO COVERED YARD
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 10 March 2021
Parish Millom Without

Application Num 4/21/2018/0B1
Applicant Mr David Kirby, 15 Crown Street, Millom, LA18 4AG,
Location ALLOTMENT GARDENS, RICHMOND STREET, MILLOM
Proposal VARIATION OF CONDITION 4 (DISCHARGE OF SURFACE WATER) 

OF PLANNING APPROVAL 4/17/2376/0F1
Decision Approve
Decision Date 18 March 2021
Parish Millom

Application Num 4/21/2040/0L1
Applicant Miss Hui Wang, 39 Holly Terrace, Hensingham, Whitehaven,
Location ST JOHNS CHURCH, CROSSFIELD ROAD, CLEATOR MOOR
Proposal LISTED BUILDING CONSENT APPLICATION TO INSTALL WC AND 

BASIN
Decision Withdrawn
Decision Date 10 March 2021
Parish Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2030/0B1
Applicant Mrs Abi Spencer, 5 Hamilton Terrace, Whitehaven, CA28 7TT,
Location 5 HAMILTON TERRACE, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 (CHANGES TO WINDOW 

SPECIFICATIONS) OF LISTED BUILDING CONSENT 
4/20/2205/0L1

Decision Approve amendment of condition
Decision Date 22 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2035/0L1
Applicant Stefan & Marguerite Hopkins, Rowrah Hall, Rowrah To Kelton 

Head Road, Rowrah, CA26 3XH,
Location ROWRAH HALL, ROWRAH TO KELTON HEAD ROAD, ROWRAH
Proposal REPLACE THE EXISTING ROTTEN WHITE PAINTED TIMBER 

WINDOWS AND REPLACE WITH THE SAME STYLE WHITE 
PAINTED TIMBER WINDOWS; REPLACE DRY STONE RETAINING 
WALL TO REAR WITH CONCRETE BLOCK COVERED IN RENDER 
WALL WITH FRENCH DRAIN

Decision Approve Listed Building Consent (start within 3yr)
Decision Date 17 March 2021
Parish Arlecdon and Frizington

Application Num 4/21/2023/0F1
Applicant Miss Sophie May, Delray, Whinney Hill, Cleator Moor, CA25 5QR,

Location DELRAY, WHINNEY HILL, CLEATOR MOOR

Page 27



Proposal PROPOSED EXTENSION & INTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO 
DWELLING

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 26 March 2021
Parish Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2026/0F1
Applicant Mr M Whitaker, 6 Read Drive, Whitehaven, Cumbria, CA28 6YJ, ,

Location 6 READ DRIVE, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO SIDE; SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION 

TO REAR (INCLUDING CONVERSION OF EXISTING GARAGE) AND 
PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL PARKING

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 17 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2027/0B1
Applicant Mr & Mrs D Redhead, Holywell Cottage, St Lukes Road, Haverigg, 

Millom, LA18 4HB,
Location HOLYWELL COTTAGE, ST LUKES ROAD, HAVERIGG
Proposal VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 (PLANS) OF PLANNING APPROVAL 

4/20/2003/0F1 FOR A MINOR INCREASE IN THE HEIGHT OF THE 
EXTENSION

Decision Approve
Decision Date 16 March 2021
Parish Millom

Application Num 4/21/2039/0F1
Applicant Mrs Tamara Cass, 67 Tomlin Avenue, Whitehaven, CA28 8BU,
Location 67 TOMLIN AVENUE, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 22 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2028/0F1
Applicant Mr Woodend, 16 Penzance Street, Moor Row, CA24 3JH,
Location 16 PENZANCE STREET, MOOR ROW
Proposal ERECTION OF A FRONT DORMER
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 19 March 2021
Parish Egremont

Application Num 4/21/2047/0F1
Applicant Mrs Lyn Davies, 7 Town Head, Haverigg, LA18 4HF,
Location 7 TOWN HEAD, HAVERIGG
Proposal CHANGE OF USE FROM SHED/SUMMER HOUSE TO A DOG 

GROOMING SALON
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 1 April 2021

Page 28



[Parish |Millom~

Application Num 4/21/2031/0F1
Applicant Mr C Usher, Partfield House, Drigg, CA19 1XG,
Location PARTFIELD HOUSE, DRIGG
Proposal SINGLE STOREY SIDE AND REAR EXTENSION WITH

ALTERATIONS TO ROOF AND FRONT PORCH
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 22 March 2021
Parish Drigg and Carleton

Application Num 4/21/2032/0F1
Applicant CF Hospitality Ltd, 47 High Street, Cleator Moor, CA25 5LA, FAO 

Mr Thomas Cheung,
Location 57 MAIN STREET, EGREMONT
Proposal CHANGE OF USE FROM A SHOP TO A CAFE
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 30 March 2021
Parish Egremont

Application Num 4/21/2036/0R1
Applicant Mr Geoffrey Eilbeck, 45 Weavers Avenue, Frizington, CA26 3AT,

Location PLOT 3, CLARACK DRIVE, MOOR ROW
Proposal RESERVED MATTERS APPLICATION (ACCESS, APPEARANCE, 

LAYOUT & SCALE) FOR DWELLING FOLLOWING PLANNING 
OUTLINE APPROVAL 4/16/2206/001

Decision Approve Reserved Matters
Decision Date 23 March 2021
Parish Egremont

Application Num 4/21/2033/0L1
Applicant CF Hospitality Ltd, 47 High Street, Cleator Moor, CA25 5LA, FAO 

Mr Thomas Cheung,
Location 57 MAIN STREET, EGREMONT
Proposal LISTED BUILDING CONSENT FOR INTERNAL ALTERATIONS AS 

PART OF CHANGE OF USE FROM A SHOP TO A CAFE
Decision Approve Listed Building Consent (start within 3yr)
Decision Date 30 March 2021
Parish Egremont

[Application Num |4/21/2044/0Fl

Application Num 4/21/2042/0F1
Applicant Mr Vic Carlill, The Lodge, Hensingham, Whtiehaven, CA28 8XZ,
Location THE LODGE, HENSINGHAM, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal ALTERATIONS TO FORM GARAGE EXTENSION AND SUN LOUNGE

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 26 March 2021
Parish Weddicar

Page 29



Applicant Mr James Craghill, Red Brow Bungalow, Main Street, Haverigg, 
Millom, LA18 4PR,

Location FIELD NO. 7635 (DISUSED AIRFIELD), NORTH LANE, HAVERIGG

Proposal ERECT IMPLEMENT STORE/GENERAL PURPOSE BUILDING
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 26 March 2021
Parish Whicham

Application Num 4/21/2046/DOC
Applicant
Location HALL GREEN FARM, KIRKSANTON, MILLOM
Proposal DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 6 AND 7 OF PLANNING APPROVAL 

4/18/2481/0F1
Decision Approve
Decision Date 26 March 2021
Parish

Application Num 4/21/2045/0F1
Applicant Mr Humphrey, Mill House, Kirksanton, LA18 4NN,
Location MILL HOUSE, KIRKSANTON
Proposal SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION AND ERECTION OF A PORCH 

TO THE FRONT OF THE PROPERTY
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 30 March 2021
Parish Whicham

Application Num 4/21/2074/0N1
Applicant W Connor, 18 Pica Cottages, Pica, CA14 4QA, FAO Mr Mathew 

Baker,
Location PICA TO TUTEHILL FARM ROAD, PICA (WEST SIDE) NY 02659 

21168
Proposal PRIOR APPROVAL APPLICATION TO HARD CORE AND CONCRETE 

YARD
Decision Approve Notice of Intention
Decision Date 15 March 2021
Parish Distington

Application Num 4/21/2053/0E1
Applicant Mr S Mawson, Bailey Ground Farm, Santon Way, Seascale, CA20 

ING,
Location BAILEY GROUND FARM, SANTON WAY, SEASCALE
Proposal CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS FOR AN EXISTING USE -

INSTALLATION OF A BIOMASS BOILER (CONTAINED IN SHIPPING 
CONTAINER) TO A DAIRY PARLOUR

Decision Approval of Certificate of Lawfulness
Decision Date 1 April 2021
Parish Seascale

Application Num 4/21/2054/0F1
Applicant Mr Andrew Park, 18 Settle Street, Millom, LA18 5AR,
Location 18 SETTLE STREET, MILLOM

Page 30



Proposal TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO THE REAR
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 1 April 2021
Parish Millom

Application Num 4/21/2055/0F1
Applicant Mr & Mrs Lafferty, Mickledore, Drigg Road, Seascale, CA20 1NX,

Location MICKLEDORE ,DRIGG ROAD, SEASCALE
Proposal PROPOSED TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO SIDE
Decision Approve (commence within 3 years)
Decision Date 1 April 2021
Parish Seascale

Application Num 4/21/2059/HPAE
Applicant Mr Chris Donohoe, 9 Lingla Bank, Frizington, CA26 3TD,
Location 9 LINGLA BANK, FRIZINGTON
Proposal PRIOR NOTIFICATION FOR A REAR SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION

Decision Permitted Development
Decision Date 24 March 2021
Parish Arlecdon and Frizington

Application Num 4/21/2060/TPO
Applicant Mr Alex D'Aprile, 5 Willow Drive, Whitehaven, CA28 8BH,
Location 1 THE RETREAT, INKERMAN TERRACE, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal CROWN REDUCTION OF 2 OAK TREES AND 1 SYCAMORE TREE 

THAT ARE WITHIN A CONSERVATION AREA
Decision TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE
Decision Date 23 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2062/TPO
Applicant KP Arborists, Hollydene, Harras Road, Whitehaven, CA28 6SG, 

FAO Mr Paul Cottier,
Location MELSUNGEN, RHEDA PARK, FRIZINGTON
Proposal WORKS TO VARIOUS TREES PROTECTED BY A TREE 

PRESERVATION ORDER
Decision TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE
Decision Date 23 March 2021
Parish Arlecdon and Frizington

Application Num 4/21/2063/0N1
Applicant G & AE Marrs & Son, Cathow, Cleator, CA23 3ES, FAP Mr Richard 

Marrs,
Location NOOK FARM, CLEATOR
Proposal PRIOR APPROVAL APPLICATION TO CONCRETE EXISTING SHEEP 

PENS
Decision Approve Notice of Intention
Decision Date 10 March 2021
Parish Cleator Moor

Page 31



Application Num 4/21/2072/0N1
Applicant JA & B Stamper, Bonny Farm,, Moresby Parks, Whitehaven, CA28 

8UT, FAO Mr Stamper,
Location BONNY FARM, MORESBY PARKS, WHITEHAVEN
Proposal PRIOR APPROVAL TO CONCRETE EXISTING FARM TRACK
Decision Approve Notice of Intention
Decision Date 16 March 2021
Parish Moresby

Application Num 4/21/2073/0F1
Applicant West Cumberland Hospital, Homewood Road, Whitehaven, CA28 

8JG, FAO Mr Stephen Prince,
Location WEST CUMBERLAND HOSPITAL, HOMEWOOD ROAD, 

WHITEHAVEN
Proposal PRIOR NOTIFICATION OF DEMOLITION & SITE CLEARANCE 

WORKS TO HOUSING STOCK
Decision Withdrawn
Decision Date 13 March 2021
Parish Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2077/HPAE
Applicant Mr Jonathan Machin, 56 Dale View Gardens, Egremont, CA22 

2LN,
Location 56 DALE VIEW GARDENS, EGREMONT
Proposal PRIOR NOTIFICATION FOR A SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO

THE REAR
Decision Permitted Development
Decision Date 25 March 2021
Parish Egremont

Application Num 4/21/2095/0F1
Applicant 16 Willow Mill, Fell View, Caton, LA2 9RA,
Location BROCKWOOD HALL, WHICHAM
Proposal PRIOR NOTIFICATION OF DEMOLITION OF DERELICT SWIMMING 

POOL BUILDING
Decision Approve
Decision Date 30 March 2021
Parish Millom Without

Page 32



 

PP 14 04 21          

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 
Lead Officer:  Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager 
 
 

To inform Members of Development Management Performance for the fourth quarter of 
2020/21 (01st January 2021 - 31st March 2021) and for full 12 month period from 01st April – 
31st March 2021 against National Performance Indicators    

 
 
Recommendation: That the report be noted  
 
Resource Implications: Nil 
 
 
1.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
Speed of Determination of Planning Applications – the following results were achieved:- 
 

 4th Quarter 
(Jan – Mar 
2021) 

Cumulative 
(April  2020 – 
Mar 2021) 

PI 157 (a) 
Major planning applications dealt within 13 weeks 
or agreed extension of time 
Target is 65% 

 
100% 
(5 out of 5) 

 
100% 
(13out of 13 

PI 157 (b) and P157 (c) 
Minor and Other planning applications dealt within 
8 weeks or agreed extension of time 
Target is 80% 

 
99% 
(80 out of 81) 

 
99% 
(354 out of 358) 

 
   
 Other Indicators for 4th Quarter (January – March 2021) 

     
 Percentage of Applications determined under delegated powers = 90% 

 
  Percentage of planning applications approved = 99% 
 

 Percentage of Planning Appeals Allowed = 0 (2 out of 2 appeals dismissed) in this quarter 
 

 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager 
 
Background Papers:  Planning Statistics (PS1 and PS2 Returns)  

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Panel 140421 
 
PLANNING APPEAL DECISION  
 
Lead Officer:    Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation:  That the decision be noted in the context of the Council’s Local 

Plan Policies and also in relation to performance monitoring.  
 
Resource Implications:  Nil. 
 
1.0  Application For Permission in Principle 
 
1.1. Planning Application Ref. 4/20/2052/PIP comprised an Application For Permission In 

Principle. 
 
1.2. An Application For Permission In Principle is an alternative way of obtaining planning 

permission for minor housing-led development which separates the consideration of 
matters of principle for proposed development from the technical detail of the 
development.  

 
1.3. The permission in principle consent route has two stages: the first stage (or 

‘permission in principle’ stage) establishes whether a site is suitable in-principle only 
and the second stage (or ‘technical details consent’ stage) stage is when the detailed 
development proposals are assessed. 

 
2.0 Supporting Information 
 
2.1  On the 12th March 2020, application reference 4/20/2052/PIP was refused under 

delegated powers by the Planning and Place Manager of Copeland Borough Council 
for the following reason: 

 
The Application Site comprises undeveloped land to the south of Arlecdon Parks Road 
that contributes positively to the character of Arlecdon. The proposed development 
by virtue of its scale and location would be at odds with the prevailing form of 
development in this area of the settlement. The development would urbanise and 

To inform Members of a recent appeal decision. 

Planning Appeal Ref. APP/Z0923/W/20/3259220. 

Planning Application Ref. 4/20/2052/PIP. 

Location: Land off Arlecdon Parks Road, Frizington, Cumbria. CA26 3XQ. 

Proposal: Application For Permission In Principle For Residential Development 

(Resubmission of Application Ref, 4/19/2022/PIP). 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



thus erode the rural character of this area of the settlement to its detriment. The 
development would limit the expansive open views of the Lakeland Foothills and 
Western Fells beyond, which contribute positively to the character of the area and 
are important locally. The development is in conflict with the provisions of Policies 
ST2, ENV5, DM10, DM11, DM12 and DM26 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2018 
[sic] and Paragraphs 20, 122 and 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2.2. An appeal of the decision of Copeland Borough Council was made and has now been 

dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
2.3. In considering the merits of the proposed development, the Planning Inspector 

considered the main issue to be the effect of the proposal on the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area, having particular regard to the location, 
proposed land use and the amount of development. 

 
Location 

 
2.4. The Planning Inspector states that although the appeal site is located in an open 

countryside location, it is clearly not an isolated site, being directly opposite the 
defined settlement boundary for the local centre of Arlecdon/Rowrah. 

 
2.5. It is stated that the delivery of between 1 and 9 dwellings would not be 

inappropriate in scale for local centre of Arlecdon/Rowrah, with the paved and lit 
footways on both sides of the road allowing easy access to those facilities present 
within Arlecdon and Rowrah.  

 
2.6. It is concluded that although the development is contrary Policy ST2, for the reasons 

outlined above, the appeal site is not an inappropriate location for residential 
development and although the Council state that a 5-year housing supply now exists, 
the proposal would nevertheless boost the supply of homes in line with the NPPF 
objective. 

 
Land use 

 
2.7. The Planning Inspector identifies the strong linear form and character of the 

settlement. It is stated that the built form is focussed to the north of the settlement 
with sporadic small numbers of dwellings separated by open fields to the south of 
the settlement and that the absence of built development to the south provides a 
pleasant frame to the imposing backdrop provided by the Lakeland Fells. 

 
2.8. It is concluded that the residential development of the appeal site would appear 

incongruous in the context of the prevailing linear pattern of development found 
along Arlecdon Parks Road and that a residential development of any scale within 
the range of 1 – 9 dwellings proposed, would result in a form of built development 
that would be inconsistent with the prevailing character and form of the settlement. 

 

Page 36



2.9. It is also concluded that residential development of the appeal site would 
significantly and harmfully alter the foreground views and setting of the Lakeland 
Fells to the east which are noted as being a characteristic of the landscape character 
and sensitive to development. 

 
Amount 

 
2.10. The Planning Inspector identifies that within the range of 1 – 9 dwellings proposed 

that a lower number of dwelling may be more in keeping with the pattern of 
development on the southern side of the settlement; however, concludes that such 
a limitation would not address the harm such a development would cause to the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. 

 
Other Matters 

 
2.11. The Planning Inspector identifies the issues of highway safety, landscaping, 

ecological mitigation, drainage and the residential amenity as raised in objections to 
the application, are not matters that fall within the scope of the Permission in 
Principle stage. 

 
3.0. Conclusion 
 
3.1. The Planning Inspector concludes that the appeal should be dismissed. 
 
 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Chris Harrison 
 
Background Papers:  Planning Application File Reference 4/20/2052/PIP  
 
 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 22 February 2021 

by Graeme Robbie  BA(Hons) BPl MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 5 March 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/Z0923/W/20/3259220 

land off Arlecdon Parks Road, Frizington, Cumbria CA26 3XQ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant permission in principle. 

• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs Gate against the decision of Copeland Borough Council. 
• The application Ref 4/20/2052/PIP, dated 5 February 2020, was refused by notice dated 

12 March 2020. 
• The development proposed is proposed residential development (resubmission of 

4/19/2022/PIP). 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The proposal is for permission in principle for residential development. Planning 

Practice Guidance (the Guidance) advises that this is an alternative way of 
obtaining planning permission for housing-led development.  The permission in 

principle consent route has 2 stages: the first stage (or permission in principle 

(PiP stage) establishes whether a site is suitable in-principle and the second 
(‘technical details consent’) (TDC) stage is when the detailed development 

proposals are assessed.  Planning permission does not exist until consents have 

been issued at both stages of the process.  This appeal relates to the first of 
these 2 stages 

3. The scope of the considerations for PiP are limited to location, land use and the 

amount of development permitted. All other matters are considered as part of 

a subsequent TDC application if permission in principle is granted. I have 

determined the appeal accordingly. 

4. The appellant has included a ‘Schematic Layout’ as part of the PiP submission 

which suggests how a 9-plot scheme could be laid out within the appeal site.  It 
is clear that within the context of the PiP process such information is to be 

taken as indicative and it is on that basis that I have determined the appeal. 

5. The application to which this appeal relates was determined by the Council in 

the context of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 (CLP).  A ‘Site Allocations 

and Policies Plan’ (SAPP) was paused at the Preferred Options stage in early 
2015 whilst the intended replacement for the Copeland Local Plan, the 

emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 (eCLP) was published in Preferred 

Options Draft form in September 2020.  This was supported by housing targets 

set out in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (2019) (SHLAA)1.   

 
1 Which updated the SHLAA 2013 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z0923/W/20/3259220 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. Given the very early stage of preparation of the eCLP I accept that it has only 

very limited weight, whilst the ‘paused’ SAPP has little or no weight.  Reference 

is also made to the Council’s Interim Housing Policy (2017)(IHP), published in 
response to the Council’s acknowledgement that there was a shortfall against a 

5-year housing land supply.  The IHP was a material consideration at the time 

of the Council’s determination of the planning application.   

7. The Council has since stated2 that it is able to demonstrate in excess of  

a 5-year housing land supply and that, as a consequence, the IHP has been 
revoked.  The appellant has not directly challenged the Council’s statements 

regarding the status of the various iterations of the eCLP or SHLAA, or the IHP, 

instead maintaining a reliance upon the IHP and the 2013 SHLAA regarding 

housing land supply.  No evidence has been put forward to support the 
appellant’s assertion that the Council remains unable to demonstrate a 5-year 

housing land supply. 

 Main Issue 

8. Thus, having regard to the above and the scope of considerations3 for PiP 

applications, the main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and 

appearance of the surrounding area, having particular regard to the location, 

proposed land use and the amount of development. 

Reasons 

9. The appeal site is a broadly rectangular area of land on the southern side of 

Arlecdon Parks Road, lying between the road on its northern boundary and the 
raised embankment sides of a former railway line to the south.  The main body 

of Arlecdon, identified with Rowrah in the CLP 2013 as a local centre but with 

distinct settlement boundaries, lies on the northern side of Arlecdon Parks 
Road.  There, the linear nature of the settlement along the main road is clearly 

evident.  Detached houses and bungalows are somewhat sporadic to the east 

of the site, before transitioning to roadside terraced blocks heading westwards, 

before the main bulk of the settlement extends in a northerly direction along 
Arlecdon Road.  There are a small number of houses on the southern side of 

Arlecdon Parks Road, usually single dwellings, sporadically located along the 

road with substantial gaps between the houses and their road frontages. 

Location 

10. Although individually neither Arlecdon nor Rowrah possess sufficient facilities or 

services to be considered local centres, when taken together they do and are 
defined as such by CLP policy ST2.  CLP policy ST2 and accompanying Figure 

3.2 set out the Council’s spatial development strategy and identify a settlement 

hierarchy across the borough.  For local centres, this means supporting 

appropriately scaled development within defined settlement boundaries to help 
sustain local services and facilities for local communities.  It goes on to seek to 

restrict development beyond defined settlement boundaries except for a limited 

range of forms of development.  

11. The appeal site lies outside, but adjacent to, the defined settlement boundary 

for Arlecdon.  As such, the development of the appeal site for residential 

 
2 As set out in a ‘Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement 2020/21’, published in November 2020 
3 Location, land use and amount of development, as set out in the Guidance Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 58-

012-20180615 

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z0923/W/20/3259220 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

purposes does not gain support from CLP policy ST2(B)(iii).  Nor, in the 

absence of any justification for the proposal in terms of it meeting proven 

specific and local needs, including for rural workers, does the proposal gain 
support from CLP policy ST2(C)(vi). 

12. Although I agree with the appellant that the policies most important for 

determining the application are out-of-date, it is not for the reasons posited.  

Subsequent to determination of the PiP, the Council confirmed by way of an 

updated SHLAA that in excess of a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites 
exists and, as a consequence, the IHP has been revoked.  The appellant has 

not challenged the Council’s approach in this respect and I have not been 

presented with any further evidence that would lead me to a different 

conclusion.   

13. Rather, the Council concede that in order to meet housing targets identified in 
the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the period 2017-2035 

development beyond defined settlement boundaries will be required.  As CLP 

policy ST2 seeks to limit development to within development boundaries this 

does not wholly accord with the Framework which seeks to boost significantly 
the supply of homes.  Thus, the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development set out at Framework paragraph 11(d) is engaged which states 

that where the policies most important for determining the application are out-
of-date, permission should be granted unless the provisions of (i) or (ii) apply.   

14. Although the appeal site is located in an open countryside location, it is clearly 

not an isolated site.  Rather, the appeal site lies directly opposite the defined 

settlement boundary for a local centre.  Nor, within the context of the broad 

quantum of development set out in the PiP, would the development be of an 
inappropriate scale for the size and nature of Arlecdon as a local centre, whilst 

paved and lit footways on both sides of the road allow easy access to those 

facilities present within Arlecdon and Rowrah.   

15. Thus, in strategic locational terms and access to services and facilities, 

although contrary to CLP policy ST2 for the reasons outlined above, the appeal 
site is not an inappropriate location for residential development given 

Arlecdon’s status as a local centre.  Although the Council state that a 5-year 

housing supply now exists, the proposal would nevertheless boost the supply of 

homes in line with the Framework’s objective of seeking to significantly boost 
such supply. 

Land use 

16. However, the impression of Arlecdon is, insofar as experienced when travelling 

along the A5086 Arlecdon Parks Road, of a settlement with a strong linear form 

and character.  Although house types vary, the settlement’s built form along 

Arlecdon Parks Road is linear and largely limited to the northern side of the 
road.  Where residential development exists on the southern side, it is 

sporadic, separated from other residential development by open fields, and 

largely in the form of single, or pairs of dwellings.  There is no sense of depth 

to this largely sporadic residential built form along the southern side of the 
road. 

17. Because of the linear nature and built-form of Arlecdon, particularly along 

Arlecdon Parks Road, and the relative absence of built development on the 

southern side of the road, the largely open foreground provides a pleasant 

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z0923/W/20/3259220 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

frame to the imposing backdrop provided by the Lakeland Fells.  The few 

houses on the southern side of the road do not distract from this backdrop, 

their number and scale being limited with generous intervening open land 
between them, with hedgerows and stands of trees providing a verdant 

framework to the foreground views. 

18. The residential development of the appeal site would appear incongruous in the 

context of the prevailing linear pattern of development found along Arlecdon 

Parks Road through Arlecdon and towards Rowrah.  This would be especially so 
in the context of the schematic layout submitted and the maximum quantum of 

development set out in the PiP application.  However, even taking a quantum 

of development towards the lower end of the proposal’s range, it would result 

in a form of built development that would be inconsistent with the prevailing 
character and form of the settlement, particularly along Arlecdon Parks Road.   

19. Moreover, residential development of the appeal site would significantly and 

harmfully alter the foreground views and setting of the Lakeland Fells to the 

east.  Views of and towards the Fells are noted as being a characteristic of the 

landscape character area that the appeal site lies within4, and also as being 
sensitive to development.  The proposal would result in an incongruous built 

form with the buildings cluttering immediate foreground views of and towards 

the Fells, whilst also harmfully eroding the largely open aspect on the southern 
side of the road. 

20. For these reasons, the proposal would have a harmful effect on the character 

and appearance of Arlecdon, having regard to the prevailing built form of the 

Arlecdon and Rowrah and the sensitivities of the surrounding landscape 

character and setting.  The proposal is therefore contrary to CLP policies ENV5 
and DM10 in this respect. 

 Amount 

21. The PiP was submitted for residential development of a minimum of 1 dwelling 

and a maximum of 9 dwellings.  The accompanying ‘Schematic Layout’ shows a 
proposal for 9 dwellings; 7 dwellings set out in a cul-de-sac form with the 

access road into the site located towards its western edge and leading to a 

turning head at the southern end of the site, and two further frontage dwellings 
on the site’s northern edge fronting on to Arlecdon Parks Road. 

22. A cul-de-sac development, of the nature suggested on the schematic layout, 

for a maximum of 9 dwellings would be wholly at odds with Arlecdon’s built 

form and would be harmful to the character and appearance of the surrounding 

area for the reasons I have set out above.  However, such matters of layout 
are for consideration at the TDC stage and approval at the PiP stage does not 

infer any acceptance of detailed layout.  It is therefore important to consider 

whether, or how, the quantum of development might be appropriate in this 
location. 

23. The Schematic layout sets out an indication of one layout for nine dwellings.  

The prevailing linear built-form present along Arlecdon Parks Road is largely 

achieved by a terrace of houses along the northern side of the road.  There are 

detached and semi-detached properties that continue the linear form of 
development, but terraced properties are the prevailing type of house.  Whilst 

 
4 LPA Statement of Case Annex E: Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance – sub-type5a 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z0923/W/20/3259220 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

there may be other ways of developing the site for up to 9 dwellings that more 

closely replicate the prevailing terraced form of development to the northwest 

of the site, such strong frontage development would be at odds with the form, 
character and appearance of the southern side of Arlecdon Parks Road. 

24. Within the range set out in the PiP, a lower quantum of development may be 

more in keeping with the pattern of development along the southern side of the 

road.  However, as important to this character are the open fields and 

paddocks along the southern side of the road.  Development of a smaller 
number of dwellings along the site’s frontage might avoid the depth of 

development suggested by the schematic layout, but would instead result in a 

cluster of development adjacent to the existing properties that adjoin the site 

to the east which would also be inconsistent with the prevailing pattern of 
development and built form. 

25. The Council have suggested that the PiP be limited to two dwellings.  As this 

would fall within the range set out in the PiP application such an approach 

would not be beyond the scope of the PiP process.  However, I am not 

persuaded it would address the harm to character and appearance that 
development of this nature on this site would cause to the character and 

appearance of the surrounding area.  For these reasons, development within 

the range set out in the PiP would cause material harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area, contrary to ENV5 and DM10 in this 

respect. 

Other Matters 

26. I have noted other matters raised by interested parties, including the suitability 

of the site to provide safe access to and from Arlecdon Parks Road due to the 

bend in the road immediately to the west of the north-western corner of the 

site.  This, and other matters including landscaping, ecological mitigation 
drainage and the residential amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties, 

are not matters that fall within the scope of the PiP stage of the process to 

ecology.  Rather, they would be matters to be addressed at the TDC stage and 
so neither they, nor CLP policies DM11, DM12 or DM26 which the Council refer 

to in the refusal reason, are material to my consideration of the PiP application.  

Conclusion 

27. For the reasons set out, and having considered all other matters raised, I 

conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

Graeme Robbie 

INSPECTOR 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2021
	4a Application 4/21/2001/0O1 - Harras Dyke Farm, Harras Dyke, Whitehaven
	5 Schedule of Delegated Decisions
	6 Development Management Performance Monitoring
	7 Planning Appeal Decision
	Item 7 App Arlecdon Appeal Decision


